
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Scrutiny Board 
26 July 2022 

 
Time 
 

6.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber - 4th Floor - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 
1SH 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Paul Sweet (Lab) 
Vice-chair Cllr Ellis Turrell (Con) 
 

Labour Conservative  

Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Val Evans 
Cllr Rita Potter 
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE 
Cllr Zee Russell 
Cllr Barbara McGarrity QN 
Cllr Louise Miles 
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman 
 

Cllr Wendy Thompson 
Cllr Simon Bennett 
Cllr Udey Singh 
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is four Councillors. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team: 

Contact Martin Stevens 
Tel/Email martin.stevens@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 
 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 555046 

 

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 2 

Sensitivity: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 
Item No. Title 

 
MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
1 Apologies for absence  
 

2 Declarations of interest  
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
3 Blue Badge Update 2022 (Pages 3 - 8) 
 [To provide an update on the Blue Badge Service] 

 

4 Performance and Budget Outturn 2021-2022 (Pages 9 - 68) 
 [To provide the Council’s outturn position for 2021-2022 compared with approved 

budgets and targets and performance update against the Relighting Our City 
priorities] 
 



 

 

 Title: Blue Badge Update    Date: 18 July 2022  
 
 Prepared by: Lisa Powell    Job Title: Contact Centre Manager  
   
 

Intended 
Audience:  

 
 
Purpose 
 
To provide an update on the Blue Badge service to Scrutiny Board, providing information 
on processing times, complaints and Councillor enquiries received.  

 
Background  
 
The Blue Badge scheme is governed nationally by the Department for Transport (DfT) and 
administrated locally by local authorities (the guidance can be found here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-
guidance-england/blue-badge . Within City of Wolverhampton Council, this process is 
managed by Customer Services, supported by Independent Living Services (where 
assessment by an Occupational Therapist (OT) is required). 
 
OT’s are qualified health care professionals who carry out the mobility eligibility 
assessments for Blue Badge applicants who don’t meet the criteria for an automatic badge. 
The general principles for determining the eligibility of individual applicants can be found 
here Blue Badge scheme local authority guidance (England) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 
 
2021/22 Performance Summary  
 
The government guidance states that a decision is usually made within 12 weeks (84 days).  
Between 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, the service processed a total of 4676 
applications and the average processing time was 9 weeks. 
 
Applications are received both via online application and paper-based application.  
Customer Services also deliver Blue Badge surgeries in the community (Wednesfield 
Library and Bilston Library) as well as in the Civic Centre to support customers with 
completing their applications.  
 
For the financial year 2021/2022, 4122 applications (88%) were received online and 554 
paper applications (12%).  

 
The processing times for automatic eligibility and OT based assessments is as follows:  
 

Internal  ☐ Partner organisation  ☐ Public  ☒ Confidential  ☐ 

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england/blue-badge
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england/blue-badge
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england/blue-badge


 

 

Applications received by 
type 

Number  Average processing time 
including *badge delivery 

OT assessment required 2189 105 days (15 weeks) 

Automatic eligibility 2486 56 days (8 weeks) 

 
Automatic eligibility applications are processed solely by the Blue Badge Team and do not 
require any input from OT.   
 
Average processing times have been impacted by awaiting supplementary information from 
applicants, employee sickness during our peak periods for 2021 and awaiting OT 
assessments. The amount of blue badge requests in 2021/22 was also up from 3376 in 
2020/21 due to the pandemic delaying applications. 
 
Current Position – 2022/23 Q1 performance  
 
From 1 April 2022 to 30 June 2022, 1360 Blue Badge Applications were received. Included 
in this total, 686 have been processed with applicants receiving an outcome, 165 are 
waiting for OT assessment, 271 awaiting further information from the applicant and 216 to 
be processed.  With the remaining 22 applications at other various stages including 
awaiting payment, appeals and waiting for the cheque to clear. 

 
During this period, we commenced the trialling of a processing team for Blue Badge 
applications which has resulted in a significant reduction in the processing time. 
 
The below table shows the average processing time of the 686 processed applications 
received during quarter 1.  
 
Applications received by 
type 

Number  Average processing time 
including *badge delivery 

OT assessment required 151 34 days (4 weeks) 

Automatic eligibility 535 35 days (5 weeks) 

 
Automatic eligibility has a longer processing time in the performance 2022-23 to date, due 
to several cases where the customer has outstanding information to provide in order to 
process their application. 
 
Badges are produced and delivered directly from APS (the company we use for production 
of badges), this process takes 7-10 days. We include badge production and delivery within 
our processing time. 
 
On average the service receives 90 applications, 200 phone calls and 100 emails a week. 
There is a dedicated phone line for Blue Badge enquiries. For the period 1 April 2021 – 31 
March 2022 we received 25,684 calls and abandoned 2.1% (527 calls). This equates to an 
average of two calls abandoned per working day.  5772 emails were actioned during the 
same period. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

 

Benchmarking 
 
Currently, there is no formal regional benchmarking group for Blue Badge processing. 
Customer Services have contacted a number of Local Authorities (LA) to start the process 
of establishing a group.  
 
We do regularly engage with neighbouring authorities (Birmingham, Dudley, Walsall and 
Sandwell) to identify areas of best/good practice and to compare case management 
processes and timescales. 
 
Most neighbouring authorities work to the DfT timescale of 12 weeks and have advised that 
their yearly average processing time is 8-10 weeks. Average processing times can vary 
throughout the year as this is dependent on the number of applications received. 
 
There is a difference in how we record application processing times in comparison to other 
local authorities.  CWC’s timescale starts from the point an application is received, whilst 
most LA’s start their timescale from the point when all supporting information has been 
received. This is significant, as CWC receive a number of applications without the relevant 
supporting information, as well as incomplete applications. Customer Services are currently 
undertaking a fact-finding exercise to establish the impact on our processing times and to 
explore the option of recording this in a different way. 
 
Birmingham outsources their Blue Badge service and have an average processing time of 
4-6 weeks.  Dudley have confirmed that during periods where demand is high, they have 
outsourced the DBA element of their process.  Further work will be undertaken to 
understand these models in detail, and to adopt best practice where appropriate. 
 

Customer Feedback and enquiries 

 

We consistently monitor all types of feedback from customers, to ensure that we can monitor, 

improve and tailor the service we provide. Over the past 12 months we have received the 

following: 

 
- Nine Councillor Enquiries relating to Blue Badges were received via the Councillor Enquiry 

Unit (CEU) over the last 12 months. 
- Two corporate complaints were received about the service, one relating to a lost Blue Badge 

which was partially upheld, and the other was regarding the Blue Badge process which was 
not upheld as we follow the process guidance as set by the DfT.   

- 17 customer comments on the services were received via our website, which included: 

▫ Three positive comments; 

▫ One questioning how to make a payment which has now been rectified with Gov Pay; 

▫ Twelve with general enquiries; 

▫ One comment disagreeing with the Blue Badge renewal criteria.   

 
Currently, any enquiries received via the CEU are responded to via CEU. Due to recent feedback, 
we have agreed with CEU that we will respond directly to the Councillor and copy in CEU. This will 
allow CEU to continue to track responses while enabling Councillors to contact the service directly 
for further enquiries.  
 

Page 5



 

 

Appeals Process  
 
We have guidance on our web page and regarding eligibility and the appeals process for 
Wolverhampton on our webpage: Required Proof of Entitlement for a Blue Badge | City Of 
Wolverhampton Council  
 
At point of refusal, applicants are advised of their right of appeal. The Panel is made up of the 
Principal OT, a Section Leader from Customer Services, a manager outside of both services and a 
representative from EDI. 
 
The appeal panel use evidence from experts such as GP’s and Consultants. Evidence that has 
been received from GPs in the past has sometimes been really broad preventing us evidencing 
that an applicant meets the criteria as set by DfT.  An example of this is a GP writing to confirm 
that their patient has difficulty walking, but without the detail required for a Blue Badge: 

 
Please see snapshot below from: Blue Badge scheme local authority guidance (England) - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  

 

4.48 The applicant will need to show that, as a result of their enduring 
and substantial disability, they are unable to walk very far without 
experiencing severe difficulty; and that their inability to walk is affected 
to the extent that they would be unable to access goods and services 
unless allowed to park close to shops, public buildings, and other 
facilities. Several factors may be relevant to determining this: 

Excessive pain reported by the applicant whilst walking, or as a 
consequence of the effort of walking. 

Pain is subjective, and some people have higher pain thresholds than 
others. Consideration may need to be given to cross-referencing an 
applicant’s reported experience of pain with information they provide 
about their enduring and substantial disability, details of medication 
they take, coping strategies they have adopted, and any courses of 
treatment designed to help them manage their pain. 

Any breathlessness reported by the applicant whilst walking, or as a 
consequence of the effort of walking. 

The applicant’s reported breathlessness may need to be cross-
referenced with details of diagnosed medical conditions known to 
cause breathlessness (for example, emphysema) and any 
observations of the applicant’s respiratory rate during a mobility 
assessment. 

Page 6

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wolverhampton.gov.uk%2Fparking-and-roads%2Fblue-badge-scheme%2Fblue-badge-eligibility&data=05%7C01%7CCharlotte.Johns%40wolverhampton.gov.uk%7Cf334d8332d7b43dd7ac808da4f850a1a%7C07ebc6c370744387a625b9d918ba4a97%7C0%7C0%7C637909730055882763%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=hmwNGcUorYGF51hhYZ97vHGeaozuiCW%2FDFYdMUQKQmM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wolverhampton.gov.uk%2Fparking-and-roads%2Fblue-badge-scheme%2Fblue-badge-eligibility&data=05%7C01%7CCharlotte.Johns%40wolverhampton.gov.uk%7Cf334d8332d7b43dd7ac808da4f850a1a%7C07ebc6c370744387a625b9d918ba4a97%7C0%7C0%7C637909730055882763%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=hmwNGcUorYGF51hhYZ97vHGeaozuiCW%2FDFYdMUQKQmM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fthe-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england%2Fblue-badge&data=05%7C01%7CCharlotte.Johns%40wolverhampton.gov.uk%7Cf334d8332d7b43dd7ac808da4f850a1a%7C07ebc6c370744387a625b9d918ba4a97%7C0%7C0%7C637909730056039031%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yjkQcytrHE7pm%2FfuccXkbwIa0hAuM7Se%2FB9BRUMJtVg%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fthe-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england%2Fblue-badge&data=05%7C01%7CCharlotte.Johns%40wolverhampton.gov.uk%7Cf334d8332d7b43dd7ac808da4f850a1a%7C07ebc6c370744387a625b9d918ba4a97%7C0%7C0%7C637909730056039031%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yjkQcytrHE7pm%2FfuccXkbwIa0hAuM7Se%2FB9BRUMJtVg%3D&reserved=0


 

 

4.49 It does not matter whether excessive pain or breathlessness 
occurs at the time of walking, or later - what counts is that it is a direct 
result of their attempt to walk. 

4.50 The distance an applicant is able to walk without excessive pain 
or breathlessness; taking due consideration of the environment the 
individual usually walks: 

• if an applicant is unable to walk 30 metres (33 yards) in total, 
then their walking ability is not appreciable, and they can be 
deemed as having very considerable difficulty in walking’ 

• the applicant may be deemed eligible if they can walk 30-80 
metres (33-87.5 yards) without pain or breathlessness, but 
demonstrate very considerable difficulty in walking through a 
combination of other factors - for example, extremely slow 
pace and/or their manner of walking 

• applicants who can walk more than 80 metres (87.5 yards) 
and do not demonstrate very considerable difficulty in walking 
through any other factors would not be deemed as eligible 

4.51 The speed at which they are able to walk. As a guide, a typical 
adult can walk in a minute: 

• brisk pace - >90 metres per minute 

• normal pace - 61-90 metres per minute 

• slow pace - 40-60 metres per minute 

• very slow pace - <40 metres per minute 

 
Improvements already underway 
 
The Blue Badge paper and online application forms are owned by DfT however, we have been 
looking at ways in how we can continue to support our customers to make the process simple for 
them and have been working on the following: 
 

• Previously, Customer Service Officers (CSO’s) handled calls, email enquiries and 
processed applications for Blue Badges . As a pilot, we have temporarily set up a separate 
team to process applications only, to improve our processing times and customer 
engagement to reduce delays and to build resilience for future impacts of  
employee absence. This has been met within existing resources and but has impacted on 
our service as we have been using call handlers from other areas of the business to support 
emails and calls. This pilot has been successful and will be implemented as BAU. 
 

Page 7



 

 

• Cross training across the team has been a priority in recent weeks, to ensure we have a 
robust and reliable source of CSO’s to enable the service to work at maximum capacity 
should there be any absences. The training has impacted on recent processing times, but 
the benefits will be realised over the coming months.  
 

• Team members have recently attended a training course with Northgate (supplier for our 
Blue Badge system), this was an excellent opportunity to improve their system knowledge 
and learn some extra hints and tips around the CMS system, and how to use it to its full 
extent.  
 

• We are working with the Independent Living Service to review OT assessor resource, to 
work together to create a positive impact on assessment times for our service. 

 

• The council’s Blue Badge web page is currently under review. Our aim is to make it more 
user friendly by adding a ‘how to’ video guide to support customers with online applications.  
We have liaised with our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion colleagues and are receiving 
support from Zebra Signs to create a sign language, subtitled and audio video. The website 
content will be updated and will include clear timescales to manage customer expectation. 

 

• We have promoted our support surgery dates and locations with local libraries and GP 
surgeries. We will also work with our third sector partners to further promote our surgeries. 
Since July 2021 the Blue Badge Team have undertaken 54 appointments to support 
residents with their Blue Badge applications. We are currently identifying additional surgery 
locations. 

 

• As of 31 January 2022, we went live with GovPay which allows applicants to pay online 
when applying which can reduce their application time by up to two weeks.    
Since ‘Go Live’ 79% of applicants have paid online. 
 

• We are working with Northgate to see if we can build a tracking system to enable customers 
to login and see progress of their application. We are also looking at how we can auto 
generate letters/emails to customers to update them on their application, this is currently a 
manual process. 
 
 
 

 

Page 8



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Board  
26 July 2022 

 

Report title Performance and Budget Outturn 2021-2022 

 Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Obaida Ahmed 
Resources and Digital City  

Wards affected All Wards 

Accountable Director Tim Johnson, Chief Executive 

Originating service Strategic Finance 

Accountable employee Claire Nye Director of Finance 
Tel 01902 550478 
Email Claire.Nye@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 
considered by 
 

Strategic Executive 
Board 
 

24 May 2022 

Recommendation: 

Scrutiny Board is recommended to: 

 

1. Consider the Performance and Budget Outturn 2021-2022 as reported to Cabinet on 15 

June 2022. 
  

Page 9

Agenda Item No: 4



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
1.0 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Scrutiny with the Council’s outturn position for 

2021-2022 compared with approved budgets and targets and performance update 

against the Relighting Our City priorities.  

2.0 Background 

2.1 On 16 September 2020, Council approved the Relighting Our City recovery framework to 

guide the Council’s approach as we emerge from the Covid-19 pandemic.   

2.2 Relighting Our City was launched as a ‘living’ document and a commitment made to 

regularly review and refresh the plan to ensure that it continues to reflect the priorities of 

local people and capture the fast-changing nature of the pandemic.  This was updated at 

Cabinet on 17 March 2021, including a reflection on what had been achieved so far and 

an overview of future planned activity to support recovery from the pandemic. 

2.3 Relighting Our City also includes a performance framework, providing high-level city data 

on key priorities and benchmarking city performance against national and regional data in 

order highlight the impact of targeted interventions, inform strategic decision-making in 

relation to provision and encourage scrutiny of those strategic decisions. 

2.4 On 2 March 2022, Council approved Our City: Our Plan, a new Council Plan building on 

Relighting Our City and providing the strategic framework for delivering the ambition that 

‘Wulfrunians will live longer, healthier lives’. Reporting against this framework for both 

performance and budget will take place from 2022-2023 onwards. 

2.5 The City of Wolverhampton Council has built up a strong track record over many years of 

managing its finances well and consistently setting a balanced budget.  Our approach to 

strategic financial management, aligning budgets to service priorities and improving 

services, and investing in transformation priorities, continues to put us in a strong 

financial position. 

2.6 On 3 March 2021, the Council approved the net budget requirement for 2021-2022 of 

£258.5 million for General Fund services.  This report details the outturn position against 

this net budget requirement.  

2.7 The Covid-19 pandemic has significantly distorted the Council’s financial position and 

medium term financial strategy (MTFS).  As detailed in previous budget reports to 

Cabinet, the cost of dealing with the pandemic and loss of income extends beyond the 

immediate period.  During 2020-2021 and 2021-2022, local authorities received one-off 

Covid-19 Emergency Grant to support the cost implications of the pandemic.  In addition, 

local authorities could apply for funding to part fund the loss of income from non-

commercial fees and charges. Neither of these grants have been extended for 2022-

2023, however, the costs of the pandemic extend beyond 2021-2022. 

Page 10



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

2.8 The Council has responded to the unprecedented impact of the Covid-19 global 

pandemic.  This has meant refocusing the efforts of the organisation on supporting those 

in the city that need us most – especially the most vulnerable, supporting our NHS 

colleagues, helping struggling city businesses to survive and adapt to the constantly 

changing operating restrictions, supporting our schools and young people and 

maintaining core, essential council services. 

2.9 Despite all of this uncertainty and ‘distortion’, the Council has once again managed its 

money well and delivered within budget. Overall, the General Fund, after the cost of 

redundancy and pension strain and contributions to essential earmarked reserves, is a 

net forecast underspend of £2.2 million. It is proposed that this is transferred into the 

Future Years Budget Strategy to support the budget deficit going forward, namely 

identifying further projected budget reductions which were estimated at £12.6 million in 

2023-2024, rising to £25.8 million by 2025-2026 when reported to Full Council in March 

2022. 

2.10 It should be noted that, nationally, local authorities are being asked to review their 

accounting treatment of infrastructure assets, including their economic life, depreciation 

and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) calculation.  In response, the council is currently 

reviewing its accounting policy and will be discussing the findings with the council’s 

external auditors. This may result in additional charges being made on MRP.  Once this 

work has been concluded, an update will be reported to Cabinet.  

2.11 Reserves play a vital role in the financial sustainability of the Council.  The Council’s 

General Fund balance stands at £13.7 million, which is approximately 5% of the 2022-

2023 net budget. In addition, the Council holds specific reserves which are set aside to 

fund future planned expenditure.  It is vital that Council continues to hold these reserves 

to mitigate the risk of uncertainty of any potential future expenditure and to support the 

delivery of council priorities.   

2.12 Recovering from the pandemic requires the Council to invest, on a huge scale, in our city 

and its people - to help them recover and thrive. Investment is needed in supporting 

vulnerable residents and struggling families; in opportunities for our children and young 

people; in job and employment opportunities for our young adults hit disproportionately 

by unemployment; in support for city businesses; in closing the digital divide and in the 

big switch to a greener economy.  Our prudent financial management to date will enable 

us to move forward with this short-term targeted investment.   

2.13 In the Reserves, Provisions and Balances 2021-2022 report to be considered at this 

meeting it will be seen that the overall total of general and earmarked reserves, for which 

the Council has flexibility to allocate, has been prudently maintained. The Reserves, 

Provisions and Balances 2021-2022 report will provide detail on the movements on all 

reserves and notes that reserve strategy is currently being reviewed in light of Our City, 

Our Plan priorities and the budget challenge facing with Council. An updated Reserves 

Strategy will be reported back to Cabinet as part of the budget process. 

Page 11



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

2.14 Schools remaining in control of the local authority have contributed a net £2.4 million to 

reserves during 2021-2022 after adjusting for balances attributable to academies, taking 

the total accumulated reserves to £15.6 million at 31 March 2022.  This is set out against 

schools’ projection of balances of £10.2 million at the end of 2021-2022.  The Deputy 

Director of Education and Director of Finance will continue to challenge those schools 

who hold significant surplus balances and those with deficits, aiming to gain an 

understanding of plans in place and whether they are appropriate.  

2.15 The Housing Revenue Account revenue outturn position for the year was a surplus 

before allocations of £13.1 million, which is in line with the budget.   

2.16 The Capital Programme has an outturn position of £82.5 million for the General Fund and 

£55.9 million for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  A summary of the outturn 

position is detailed in section 10.  A full detailed report on the Capital Outturn 2021-2022 

including Quarter One Capital Monitoring 2022-2023 will be reported to Cabinet in July 

2022. 

2.17 The Director of Finance has approved the write off of 851 debt accounts totalling 

£652,678.03 in value.  

3.0 Performance Update 

3.1 The Council continues to use a variety of means in which to assess the efficiency and 

effectiveness of operations against organisational strategic priorities and statutory 

requirements. 

3.2 Critically it continues to manage resources effectively, consistently setting a balanced 

budget, and delivering against the Medium Term Financial Strategy, despite austerity.  

3.3 External verification of performance is also undertaken through external audit of the 

Council’s accounts, and key inspections such as Office for Standards in Education,  

Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) and other regulatory bodies.  Risks continue to be 

managed through the strategic risk register which is reported to Audit and Risk 

Committee on a regular basis.  

Relighting Our City Performance  

3.4 Relighting Our City set out the priorities which guided the Council’s approach as the 

organisation and the city started to transition from the response to the recovery phase of 

the pandemic.  These priorities together with the associated key actions and activity 

formed a framework for recovery. 

3.5 Within the Relighting Our City recovery commitment plan there are five overarching 

priorities for recovery, supporting the delivery of our Council Plan vision for Wulfrunians 

to live longer, healthier, and more fulfilling lives: 

 Support people who need us most 

 Create more opportunities for young people 

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 Support our vital local businesses 

 Generate more jobs and learning opportunities 

 Stimulate vibrant high streets and communities  

 
3.6 A performance framework was created to monitor performance against these priorities 

and included two different types of indicators, city indicators and impact indicators. 

3.7 City indicators are high level indicators which although the Council can influence, may 

not be able to directly affect.  Data on these indicators is published nationally, to enable a 

comparison against regional, statistical, and national averages. Impact indicators 

demonstrate how council interventions are working to improve outcomes for residents 

against key priorities. 

3.8 This report sets out a summary of performance against city and impact indicators, 

relevant financial information, and key areas of activity. A dashboard of the performance 

against impact indicators is included at appendix 1. 

3.9 The Relight Our Council performance indicators have been updated for Q4 2021/2022. 

This is the last publication of these indicators before the new Council Plan performance 

framework starts in Q1 2022/2023. 

3.10 Over the year, out of 29 indicators; 

 18 indicators showed improvement 

 10 indicators showed similar performance 

 1 indicators showed a decreased over the year 

3.11 Over the year, 11 indicators were comparable to national averages 

 6 indicators performed better than national averages 

 5 indicators performed worse than national averages 

3.12 Through robust internal performance management, the majority of indicators have seen 

improvement over the financial year. This performance management has also ensured 

that areas of concern are picked up quickly with strategies developed to ensure long 

term, sustained improvement. 

3.13 A detailed view of performance by priority area is detailed below. 

Supporting people who need us most 

3.14 The Council continues to provide support to those facing hardship, working with our 

partners to keep our city safe and build resilience to ensure all our communities can 

thrive.   

Page 13



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

3.15 Social care performance remains an area of strength in the city. The Council has seen a 

continuation of strong performance in both children’s and adults social care in the 

statutory returns published within the year. 

3.16 Internal performance indicators for social care, in general, show either improved 

performance or continued strong performance against national, regional and statistical 

comparators. 

3.17 Supporting people to be independent at home remains a key objective for the Council 

with 60% of all residents open to Adult Social Care being supported in their own homes, 

this is an increasing number.  

3.18 The Councils performance in terms of reablement remains above national averages, with 

71% of residents aged 65 or over remaining at home 91 days after discharge from 

hospital at quarter end.  

3.19 The Council has continued to work with partners to support the role out of the Covid-19 

vaccination at speed. At quarter end 73.8% of the adult population of Wolverhampton 

were vaccinated. Further to this, almost 94% of our residents aged 80 or above, 89% of 

our most clinically vulnerable residents and 96% of our care home residents are 

vaccinated ensuring protection to those most vulnerable. 

3.20 The Council is also supporting keeping people safe through the supply of personal 

protective equipment (PPE), with over 5 million items being supplied through the 

pandemic, almost 1 million in this financial year. 

3.21 Reducing rough sleeping continues to be a priority to the Council with a 25% reduction in 

rough sleepers in the year. 

3.22 The Council continues to support vulnerable residents to maximise their benefit 

entitlement to ease their financial hardships. 853 residents have been supported through 

the welfare rights helpline to a potential gain of over £2.7 million. 

3.23 Regarding financial performance, as detailed in Appendix 2, Adult Services out-turned 

with an underspend of £122,000, after the use of one off funding and a contribution into 

reserves. The position has improved significantly from the forecast at quarter 3, mainly 

due to the to the use of one-off funding which will not be available in future years. This 

includes £1.1 million of covid grants and £2.3 million funded from the government’s fund 

for Homefirst Discharge Strategy.  There is uncertainty of the forecast position for Adult 

Services in 2022-2023 and over the medium term, as services re-open following the 

pandemic and demand in some areas is back at pre-pandemic levels, although the type 

of service required may be different.  In addition to post pandemic recovery, 

Wolverhampton has agreed to be a ‘trailblazer’ authority and implement charging reform 

in January 2023.  The Council is required to conduct a fair cost of care exercise to review 

levels of payments to providers, and how the Council will move towards it in the medium 

term if and where it is not paid already.  In addition, the changes in legislation around 

individuals’ contributions towards their care will likely result in more individuals having 

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

financial support from the Council.  The analysis is underway but at this time the overall 

impact is not known.   

 

3.24 Public Health and Wellbeing overall out-turned with an underspend of £231,000 which 

relates to staffing vacancies within libraries and use of one-off grant to within Community 

Safety & Community Cohesion.  However, it should be noted that the income received for 

WV Active significantly reduced due to the pandemic.  Following the compulsory closures 

of the leisure centres, in line with government guidelines, memberships dropped from 

over 10,000 members in February 2020 to their lowest of 5,300 in December 2020.  

However, during the final quarter of 2021-2022 (January – March), WV Active 

membership moved over the milestone mark of 9,114.  Plans and targets are in place to 

ensure that WV Active returns to 10,000 live members by the summer of 2022.  In 

addition, the overall income has also been impacted by the second largest income 

stream for the service which is related to swimming lessons.  In the final quarter of 2021-

2022, there has been a shortage of swimming teachers to deliver lessons, this is a 

national issue, and the service is looking to Swim England to support the local solutions.  

This shortage along with maternity leave and sickness within the services, has meant 

that lessons on some days and at certain sites have had to be paused – this has 

impacted on renewals and new joiners to the programme.  Income losses as a result of 

the pandemic have been funded from one-off grants during 2021-2022. 

3.25 Further financial analysis can be found in Appendix 2. 

Creating more opportunities for young people 

3.26 Our ambition is that children and young people have the best possible opportunities to 

fulfil their potential. As a result, we are investing to connect young people to 

opportunities, support our schools to improve standards, ensure education provision is 

inclusive whilst continuing to support our most vulnerable young people. 

3.27 The city continues to see an increase in the percentage of schools rated good or 

outstanding by Ofsted, above national averages. Ensuring inclusivity in access to this 

high standard of education remains a key priority. At quarter end, 90% of children and 

young people from ethnic minorities are attending a good or outstanding school, this 

number is the same as for White British residents. Further to this, the Council continues 

to support children and young people with special educational needs to attend 

mainstream schools, 81% at quarter end. 

3.28 The Council performs lower than national averages in ensuring education and health 

care plans for children with special educational needs and disability (SEND) are 

completed within 20 weeks. This performance remains similar to last quarter.  

3.29 This performance was identified through internal performance management processes. It 

was also highlighted through the recent SEND Ofsted inspection as an area for 

improvement. Since, there has been a clear improvement strategy put in place to ensure 

Page 15



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

timeliness and quality of assessments being recorded on the ONE system. Performance 

is being monitored rigorously through a new suite of performance dashboards that have 

both director level oversight through internal performance meetings and partner 

engagement through the SEND Partnership Board. 

3.30 Through the year the Council has worked with partners to deliver a programme of 

activities for children and young people. In total over 500 events were commissioned 

which were attended by over 14,000 young people, over 5,000 of which were eligible for 

free school meals. 

3.31 Children’s Social care remains an area of strength for the authority with decreasing 

numbers of children open to the service against a backdrop of increasing numbers 

regionally and nationally. 

3.32 Against decreasing numbers of Child Protection cases, the percentage that are repeat 

cases has remained stable in the quarter. This figure is below national and regional 

comparators. 

3.33 Placement stability of our children in care remains an area of strength for the Council. 

Data for both short and long-term stability shows that placements are secure and 

compare favourably to regional and national comparators. When older young people 

leave care, the Council support them to find suitable accommodation. 93% of our care 

leavers are currently in suitable accommodation, substantially above national and 

regional averages. 

3.34 Regarding financial performance, Children’s Services and Education out-turned with an 

underspend of £2.9 million, due to strong financial management and transformative 

projects and programmes which have achieved significant and positive changes for 

children and young people living and learning in Wolverhampton.  Through the 

transforming children’s service programme we offer a robust approach to managing 

demand across the children’s social care system. This has resulted in a decrease in the 

number of children requiring statutory services.  Our restorative approach to practice, 

enables us to work with families to offer the right support at the right time, resulting in 

increased strength and resilience in families.  Further financial analysis is included at 

Appendix 2. 

Generate more jobs and learning opportunities  

3.35 The pandemic has increased barriers to employment for too many people in our city, and 

we will continue to work collaboratively with partners to support people into work, learning 

and re-skilling opportunities and create new jobs and opportunities in our city for our 

citizens. 

3.36 Wolverhampton has historically seen higher unemployment claimant count rates than the 

national average, however these rates were exacerbated by the pandemic. The 

increases in claimant count through the pandemic in Wolverhampton were proportionate 

Page 16



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

to that seen nationally with young people being disproportionately impacted upon on 

through this period. 

3.37 Over the year, Wolverhampton has seen decreases in the number of people claiming 

unemployment benefits in all ages bands. However, despite the decreases, 

Wolverhampton has the third highest rate for overall unemployment. 

3.38 Engagement data for 16 and 17 year olds in education, employment and training shows 

Wolverhampton favourably against comparators, however at quarter end Wolverhampton 

had the second highest rate of 18-24 year olds claiming unemployment benefit in the 

country. 

3.39 The Council quickly identified this as a key priority with £3 million of funding being 

pledged to tackle youth unemployment in the city through the Wolves@Work 18-24 

programme. Supported by this funding, during the year, the Council has supported 683 

people into work through Wolves at Work and Black Country Impact as well as 

safeguarded or created 1,456 jobs through inward investment. The City Ideas Fund was 

launched in November 2022, giving city employers, partners, voluntary organisations, 

community groups and individuals a one-off grant to develop ideas and projects which 

help young people into employment, training and learning. The impact of these projects 

will be seen through 2022/23 and beyond and is being monitored through internal 

analysis and the support of the DWP. 

3.40 The Council has also supported 116 young people through internal apprenticeships, 

apprenticeship levy spend or graduate schemes across the year. This ongoing support is 

with the aim of supporting young people to achieve a sustainable career with the 

authority. 

3.41 Regarding financial performance, the Regeneration directorate, which includes the Skills 

service, out-turned with an underspend of £120,000 due to one-off staffing vacancies 

held pending a restructure, which has now been concluded. Further analysis is shown at 

Appendix 2. 

Grow our vital local businesses 

3.42 Our local businesses are essential to a strong and resilient local economy but have been 

significantly impacted on by the pandemic.  Building on the extensive Covid support 

mechanisms we have deployed which have included £60 million in grant funding through 

2020-2021, we will continue to ensure there is an effective business support offer to meet 

the needs of local businesses, supporting growth, diversification and resilience. 

3.43 Wolverhampton has over 8,000 businesses and a one year survival rate of 90% which is 

higher than the national average. 

3.44 In the last quarter the Council supported 61 businesses through a combination of 

business support, tailored programmes and business reviews. 

Page 17



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

3.45 170 business were engaged with the Business Relight programme, a programme tailored 

to supporting business to relight post pandemic. 

3.46 Through commissioned service ‘Access to Business’ 177 new start-ups are being 

supported. 

3.47 Regarding financial performance, as mentioned above, the Regeneration directorate 

which includes Enterprise, out-turned with an underspend of £120,000.  Further analysis 

is shown at Appendix 2. 

Stimulate vibrant high streets and communities 

3.48 In the wake of the pandemic it is more important than ever to deliver against our 

ambitious plans to transform and reimagine our city, conscious of the changes in how we 

work, live, travel and spend our leisure time.  We continue to deliver our plans to be an 

events city building on our strong cultural offer and drive investment into our 

communities, particularly focussed on our council’s climate change commitment to be 

next carbon neutral by 2028. 

3.49 Due to the pandemic in 2020, there was a 42% reduction in city centre footfall in 

comparison to 2019. Just under 590,000 football supporters attended games at the 

Molineux through the 2018-2019 season (last full crowd season) compared to just 4,500 

in 2020-2021 and many other examples of dramatic decreases in event attendance. 

3.50 Against pre-pandemic averages, there is a 13% reduction in city retail and recreational 

activity. Despite being lower than pre-pandemic, this indicator has shown continual, 

gradual improvement over the year and shows activity as its highest point since the start 

of the pandemic. 

3.51 However, there is still a 54% reduction in activity on public transport when compared to 

pre-pandemic averages. This figure has remained fairly stable since the start of the 

pandemic. This could be linked to travellers confidence post pandemic, new routines 

around working from home and the cost of living crisis. 

3.52 Data shows however that this isn’t a problem on seen in Wolverhampton, with lower rates 

of activity on public transport seen also across the region and beyond. 

3.53 The city continues to grow its rapid charging capabilities, with 30 rapid charging stations 

across the city now available to electric car users. This is six times as many as at the 

start of the year. 

3.54 Regarding financial performance, excluding the impact of Covid-19, City Housing and 

Environment out-turned with a slight overspend of £70,000.   The service is reporting 

one-off efficiencies across Waste Services, however, pressures are reported across 

Transportation, Highways Maintenance and Coroners Services.  Pressures are also been 

seen within Parking Services as income levels have not returned back to pre-pandemic 

levels. Further financial analysis is included in Appendix 2. 

Page 18



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

Our Council 

3.55 To deliver against our key city priorities, the Council is continuing to become more 

efficient and effective through ongoing improvements in relation to assets, use of data, 

technology and digital, our people and money. 

3.56 There has been an increase in sickness absence in the year from 2.83% absence rate to 

5.20%. Despite this increase this rate is in line with pre-pandemic figures. 

3.57 Call abandonment rate in customer services was 10.4% in March 2021 compared to 21% 

in December 2019 (pre pandemic), with work ongoing to reduce this further and activity 

to provide customer service support in the community such as blue badge surgeries. 

4.0 Revenue Budget Outturn – General Fund Summary 

4.1 On 3 March 2021, the Council approved the net budget requirement for 2021-2022 of 

£258.5 million for General Fund services. 

4.2 Once again, the Council has managed it finances well, and overall, the General Fund 

projected outturn for 2021-2022 out-turned with a forecast underspend of £2.2 million, 

after meeting the net cost of redundancy and pension strain and contributions to 

essential earmarked reserves. It is recommended in the Reserves, Provisions and 

Balances report that this underspend be transferred into the Future Years Budget 

Strategy to support the budget challenge, namely identifying further projected budget 

reductions which were estimated at £12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to £25.8 million by 

2025-2026 when reported to Full Council in March 2022.   

4.3 It should be noted, that nationally, local authorities are being asked to review their 

accounting treatment of infrastructure assets, including their economic life, depreciation 

and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) calculation.  In response the council is currently 

reviewing its accounting policy and will be discussing the findings with the council’s 

external auditors. This may result in additional charges being made on MRP going 

forward.  Once this work has been concluded, an update will be reported to Cabinet. 

4.4 An analysis of the Council’s outturn position against General Fund revenue budgets for 

2021-2022 is detailed in the table below. Further detailed analysis for each Division can 

be found in Appendix 2. 

 

  

Page 19



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

Table 1 – 2021-2022 General Fund Revenue Budget Outturn  

  

Net 
Controllable 

Budget 
2021-2022 

Outturn  
2021-
2022 

Variation 

    Over/(Under) 

  £000 £000 £000 % 

      

Adult Services 71,739 71,617 (122) (0.17%) 

Children's Services and Education 52,432 49,548 (2,884) (5.50%) 

Public Health and Wellbeing 5,381 5,150 (231) (4.29%) 

Regeneration 3,788 3,668 (120) (3.17%) 

City Assets 10,687 9,909 (778) (7.28%) 

City Housing & Environment 28,390 28,460 70 0.25% 

Finance 14,598 13,837 (761) (5.21%) 

Governance 11,844 11,303 (541) (4.57%) 

Strategy 10,801 10,103 (698) (6.46%) 

Communications and External Relations 2,270 2,384 114 5.02% 

Corporate Budgets 46,567 50,729 4,162 8.94% 
     

Net Budget Requirement 258,497 256,708 (1,789) (0.69%) 

Council Tax (including Adult Social Care 
Precept) 

(112,251) (112,251) - - 

Enterprise Zone Business Rates (1,530) (1,686) (156) 10.20% 

Top Up Grant (26,702) (26,702) - - 

Business Rates (net of WMCA growth 
payment and Collection Fund deficit) 

(67,477) (67,481) (4) 0.01% 

New Homes Bonus (1,017) (1,018) (1) 0.10% 

Section 31 Grant - Business Rates 
Support 

(11,468) (11,706) (238) 2.08% 

Collection Fund (Surplus) / Deficit, net of 
grants and specific reserves 

(3,178) (3,178) - - 

Improved Better Care Fund and Social 
Care Grants 

(25,713) (25,718) (5) 0.02% 

Covid-19 Emergency Grant Funding (8,707) (8,708) (1) 0.01% 

Lower Tier Services Grant (454) (454) - - 
     

Total Resources (258,497) (258,902) (405) 0.16% 
     

Net Budget (Surplus) / Deficit - (2,194) (2,194) (0.85%) 

  

Page 20



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

5.0 Covid-19 Update 

5.1 The Council played a proactive, leading role in responding to the Covid-19 emergency.  

Some of the new initiatives implemented to support the City’s residents and businesses 

may continue to require ongoing financial support.  As the situation evolves, as will the 

Council’s response and financial support in order to ensure recovery.  

5.2 The Council response to the Covid-19 emergency has included: 

 Over 5.8 million items of PPE supplied to local businesses and organisations, almost 1 

million of which has been supplied in the last year. 

 Over 71% of the population vaccinated including 94% of 80’s, 84% of the most 

clinically vulnerable and 96% of care home residents 

 Creation of community champion roles to support community support through the 

pandemic 

5.3 The Council has received a number of one-off grants to support the costs of the 

pandemic.  The Council has carefully managed the allocation of grants; considering 

evidence when drawing up a response to the pandemic to ensure the right response is 

delivered at the right level to support our residents and businesses.   The Budget Outturn 

report presented to Cabinet on 16 June 2021 reported that, to ensure that the Council 

could continue to deliver on our Relight priorities, and continue to respond to the 

pandemic during 2021-2022, unallocated Covid-19 Emergency general grant would be 

carried forward to support the ongoing challenges we face. In addition, at the end of 

2019-2020, the Council established a Recovery Reserve totalling £3 million. 

5.4 During 2020-2021 and for the first quarter of 2021-2022, the Council was able to claim 

compensation grant for loss of income from sales, fees and charges.  As detailed in 

section 3 and Appendix 2, the Council has seen losses in income across services such 

as WV Active and Parking services throughout the whole of 2021-2022 – beyond this 

grant compensation scheme. 

5.5 The table below summarises the outturn position of the cost implications which are being 

funded from the general Covid-19 Emergency Grant and the Sales, Fees and Charges 

grant for quarter 1 of 2021-2022.   

Table 2 – Financial Implications of Covid-19 in 2021-2022 

 2021-2022  

£000 

Additional expenditure 4,015 

Loss of Income  1,750 

  

Total 5,765 

 

Page 21



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

5.6 In addition, the Council has received a number of grants with specific criteria such as 

grant funding to adult social care providers, housing support grant to support our most 

vulnerable families and residents, and funding to contain the outbreak.  Expenditure 

against these grants is in line with the conditions of grant and are excluded from the table 

above.  

5.7 As previously been reported, it should also be noted that the Council has seen ongoing 

losses in income from Council Tax and Business Rates due to Covid. These are 

managed separately through the collection fund but have a direct impact on the level of 

resources available to the Council. 

6.0 Reserves, Provisions and Balances 2021-2022 

6.1 A report detailing the Council’s reserves, provisions and balances as at 31 March 2022 

will be received at this meeting. The report, titled ‘Reserves, Provisions and Balances 

2021-2022’, will seek approval for transfers to and from reserves, provisions and 

balances. 

6.2 The Council’s General Fund remains at £13.7 million, which represents approximately 

5% of the 2022-2023 net budget which is in line with recommended best practice.   

6.3 Earmarked reserves that have been set aside by the Council to fund future estimated 

liabilities and planned expenditure have increased overall by £12.3 million.  This increase 

includes the £4 million transfer to the Future Years Budget Strategy Reserve as a result 

of corporate budget efficiencies and underspends across other directorates, and £5 

million of covid grant has also been used to support the underlying budget pressures in 

2021-2022, thereby releasing general fund resources which can be utilised to meet the 

budget deficit in 2022-2023.  Both of these transfers are in accordance with the budget 

strategy approved by Full Council in March 2022.   

6.4 Whilst the Council does not have a high level of reserves the outturn position has 

enabled the Council to protect the current level of reserves.  This will help to support the 

Council’s short-term financial position but, it does not address the challenging financial 

position that the Council finds itself in over the medium term; namely identifying further 

projected budget reductions which were estimated at £12.6 million in 2023-2024, rising to 

£25.8 million by 2025-2026 when reported to Full Council in March 2022. 

6.5 The Reserves Strategy is currently being reviewed in light of Our City Our Plan priorities 

and an updated Reserves Strategy will be reported back to Cabinet in future reports.  

7.0 Outturn on Schools’ Budgets 

7.1 Schools that remain in local authority control started the 2021-2022 financial year with 

accumulated reserves of £13.2 million. At the end of the year revenue balances for these 

schools were £15.6 million, an increase of £2.4 million.  This represents 13.31% of the 

funding and income available to schools during 2021-2022.    

Page 22



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

7.2 The Deputy Director of Education and the Director of Finance will continue to challenge 

those schools who hold surplus balances, aiming to gain an understanding of plans in 

place and whether they are appropriate.  They will also continue to work with schools 

with deficit balances to ensure that robust plans are in place to enable the school to 

return to a balanced budget position. 

7.3 Further details on schools’ finances for 2021-2022 are shown at Appendix 3. 

8.0 Housing Revenue Budget Monitoring 

8.1 Table 3 shows the latest forecast revenue outturn against budget for the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA). The outturn position for the year is a surplus of £13.1 million, 

compared to a budgeted surplus of £13.1 million.  

 Table 3 – Housing Revenue Account Outturn 2021-2022 

 2021-2022 

Budget  

£000 

2021-

2022 

Outturn 

£000 

2021-

2022 

Variation 

£000 

Total income (97,829) (96,323) 1,506 

Total expenditure 68,529 68,087 (442) 

Net cost of HRA services (29,300) (28,236) 1064 

Interest payments etc. 10,817 10,079 (738) 

Contribution to capital financing 5,336 5,000 (336) 

(Surplus)/deficit before transfers to/from 

reserves and provision for redemption of debt 
(13,147) (13,157) (10) 

Allocation of (surplus)/deficit 13,147 13,157 10 

Provision for redemption of debt - - - 

Balance for the year - - - 

 

8.2 Further detail behind the figures in this table are shown at Appendix 4. 

8.3 Total income was £1.5 million lower than budgeted, of which £700,000 of this is due to a 

variance from the property number assumptions used to calculate income budgets. Right 

to buys were higher than forecast and new build properties lower than the forecast. The 

budget was based on an expectation that void rent loss would be around pre-covid 

performance of 1%, however, actual rent loss for the year was around 1.8%.  

Expenditure on rents, rates and taxes is £313,000 higher than the budget, this includes 

some back dated council tax on empty properties, and properties being empty for longer 

and therefore incurring more council tax to the HRA.  

Page 23



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

8.4 There was an underspend against expenditure budgets of £442,000. This figure includes 

an underspend against the budget for the increase to the bad debt provision of £1.4 

million. The budget for the provision for bad debt has been prudent to allow for the 

potential impact of universal credit, is now felt that a reduced provision will be sufficient. 

This is offset in part by an overspend of £313,000 for rents, rates and taxes, which 

relates to increase in the council tax for empty properties due to the time taken to relet 

them and an overspend against repair and maintenance due to the costs of legal 

disrepair claims. In addition, expenditure on the depreciation of fixed assets was 

£708,000 higher than budgeted due to factoring inflationary cost pressures into the 

calculation. 

8.5 There was an underspend against the budget for interest payable of £734,000. This was 

due to rephasing on the capital programme which reduced the borrowing requirement. 

The budgeted revenue to capital transfer of £5.4 million was reduced to £5.0 million due 

to the reduction in capital expenditure. 

9.0 Collection Fund 

9.1 The Collection Fund income comes from receipts of Council Tax and Business Rates, 

also referred to as Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) collected from tax payers during the year 

and any balances from previous years. During 2020-2021 and 2021-2022, Covid-19 

pandemic has had a significant international, national and regional impact and will 

continue to do so over the short and medium term. The economic costs of the pandemic 

will place additional pressures on the Council’s income collected from council tax and 

business rates for years to come. Whilst the Council has seen some improvement of the 

collection rate and some reduction in the numbers of Local Council Tax Support 

claimants when compared to 2020-2021, these have still not returned back to pre-

pandemic levels.  

9.2 The council tax element of the Collection Fund out-turned with a £5.4 million surplus 

during 2021-2022 after contributions were made to the collection fund to recover parts of 

previous years deficits, this resulted in an overall deficit of £1.2 million to be carried 

forward. This is primarily due to a lower in year charge to the bad debt provision as a 

result of improved collection rates than originally forecast, however, it is important to note 

that whilst collection rates have improved in 2021-2022 on 2020-2021 levels, they are still 

below pre-covid levels.  Of the overall deficit to be carried forward, the Council will retain 

a deficit in the region of £1.1 million. 

9.3 The business rates element of the Collection Fund out-turned with a £22.5 million surplus 

after contributions were made to the collection fund to recover parts of previous years 

deficits linked to the costs of Covid-19 business rates relief.  In addition to the net deficit 

brought forward on the collection fund, this results in an overall deficit of £17.8 million to 

be carried forward.  Of this, the Council will retain a deficit in the region of £17.4 million. 

9.4 Due to Collection Fund accounting treatment, the deficit on the fund will not be passed to 

the Council’s General Fund until 2022-2023 and later years. The Government have 

Page 24



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

confirmed that, due to Covid, the in-year deficit on the Collection Fund in 2020-2021 can 

be spread over 3 years from 2021-2022 to 2023-2024. 

9.5 In addition to this, in the Spending Review 2020, the Government announced that 

funding would be provided to compensate local authorities for 75% of irrecoverable 

losses from council tax and business rates revenues in 2020-2021, that would otherwise 

need to be funded through local authority budgets in 2021-2022 and later years. Based 

on the 2020-2021 outturn position, the Council has received funding in the region of £5.5 

million based on Government’s methodology of calculating in-year losses, which will be 

allocated against the collection fund deficits between 2021-2022 to 2023-2024. 

10.0 Capital Programme – General Revenue Account and Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) 

10.1 The capital programme includes significant investment programmes that endeavour to 

create an environment where new and existing businesses thrive, people can develop 

the skills they need to secure jobs and create neighbourhoods in which people are proud 

to live. The capital programme reflects the priorities of the Strategic Asset Management 

Plan.    

10.2 On 2 March 2022, Full Council approved the Capital Programme 2021-2022 to 2025-

2026 Quarter Three Review and 2022-2023 to 2026-2027 Budget Strategy.  This report 

approved revisions to the General Revenue Account and Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) capital programmes.  The table below provides an overview of the outturn position 

for the General Revenue Account and HRA against the approved budget for 2021-2022.   

10.3 Due to the nature of the capital programme it is important to review capital budgets over 

the medium term. A full report on the Capital Outturn 2021-2022 including Quarter One 

Capital Monitoring 2022-2023, detailing the financial performance by each project and 

the updated position over the medium term, will be reported to Cabinet in July 2022. 

10.4 Despite the pressures of Covid-19 the Council has continued to deliver key capital 

projects which are essential to the Relighting Our City priorities. An update on key 

projects will be provided in the report to Cabinet in July 2022. 

Table 4 - Capital Programme 2021-2022 

Capital Programme 2021-2022 
Budget 

£000 

2021-2022 
Outturn 

£000 

2021-2022 
Variation 

£000 

General Revenue Account Capital Programme 

Expenditure  100,495 82,526 (17,969) 

    

Financing    

Internal Resources 64,810 53,943 (10,867) 

External Resources 35,685 28,583 (7,102) 

Total Financing 100,495 82,526 (17,969) 

    

Page 25



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

Capital Programme 2021-2022 
Budget 

£000 

2021-2022 
Outturn 

£000 

2021-2022 
Variation 

£000 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 

Expenditure    

 54,900 55,851 951 

Financing    

Internal Resources 54,105 54,534 429 

External Resources 795 1,317 522 

Total Financing 54,900 55,851 951 

    

 

11.0 Debt Write offs 

11.1 Debts are only written off as a last resort, when all feasible recovery action has been 

exhausted. If the situation surrounding an individual case changes in the future, steps 

would be taken to pursue the debt, despite the debt having been written off. 

11.2 This report seeks approval to a number of debt write offs in relation to Council Tax, 

Business Rates, Housing Benefits and Sundry Debts. The details of these write-offs is 

provided in Appendix 5. 

12.0 Evaluation of alternative options 

12.1 In accordance with the Council’s financial procedures rules, all virements in excess of 

£50,000, or those that result in a transfer between employees and other controllable 

expenditure headings, require the approval of Cabinet. Contributions to and from 

reserves and the creation of supplementary budgets also require Cabinet approval. The 

write-offs, virements, use of reserves and creation of supplementary budgets detailed in 

this report which seek the approval of Cabinet are all considered prudent in the opinion of 

the Director of Finance. 

13.0 Reasons for decisions  

13.1 In accordance with the Council’s financial procedures rules, all virements in excess of 

£50,000, or those that result in a transfer between Employees and Other Controllable 

Expenditure headings, require the approval of Cabinet. Contribution to and from reserves 

also requires the approval from Cabinet. The write-offs, virements and use of reserve 

requests detailed in this report which seek the approval of Cabinet are all considered to 

be prudent in the opinion of the Cabinet Member for Resources and Digital City and the 

Director of Finance. 

14.0 Financial implications 

14.1 The financial implications are discussed in the body of the report. 

[MH/07062022/C] 

 

Page 26



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

15.0 Legal implications 

15.1 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires local authorities to make 

arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs. It is a legal 

requirement under s25 of the Local Government Act 2003 to set a balanced budget and 

monitor the financial position throughout the year. 

[DP/08062022/A] 

 

16.0 Equalities implications 

16.1 The method by which the Budget is developed is governed by Our Council Plan and 

Relighting Our City, which itself is guided by consultation and equality analysis. The 

development of various budget proposals include an initial equalities screening for each 

proposal and, where necessary, a full equalities analysis which will provide for an initial 

understanding of the equality impact of the draft proposals. All of this will enable 

Councillors to pay, “due regard” to the equalities impact of their budget decisions at that 

point in the budget development process. The resulting and final report to Cabinet and 

Council will contain a supporting equality analysis that will offer information across the 

whole range of proposals and in doing so will enable Councillors to discharge their duty 

under Section 49 of the Equality Act 2010. 

16.2 Fairness and inclusion is a key cross cutting theme within Relighting Out City. As part of 

performance reporting, there is ongoing work to ensure that where possible data is 

collected and able to be analysed by protected characteristic, to ensure that the Council 

is meeting its responsibilities and commitments in relation to equality and diversity. 

17.0 All other implications 

17.1 The Covid-19 implications are detailed in the body of the report. 

 
18.0 Schedule of background papers 

18.1 2021-2022 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-2022 to 2023-2024, report 

to Cabinet on 17 February 2021 and Full Council on 3 March 2021 

18.2 Performance, Budget Monitoring and Budget Update 2021-2022, report to Cabinet on 28 

July 2021 

18.3 Performance and Budget Monitoring 2021-2022 report to Cabinet on 17 November 2021 

18.4 Performance and Budget Monitoring 2021 – 2022 report to Cabinet on 23 March 2022 

18.5 2022-2023 Final Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022-2023 to 2025-2026, 

report to Cabinet on 23 February 2022 and Full Council on 2 March 2022 

19.0 Appendices 

19.1 Appendix 1 - Performance Update 2021-2022 

Page 27

https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=15294&Ver=4
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=16149&Ver=4
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=16149&Ver=4
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=16156&Ver=4
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=16314&Ver=4


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

19.2 Appendix 2 - Budget Monitoring 2021-2022 

19.3 Appendix 3 – Outturn on School’s Budget 2021-2022 

19.4 Appendix 4 - Housing Revenue Account 

19.5 Appendix 5 - Debt Write Offs 

19.6 Appendix 6 - Sundry Debt Write Offs 

19.7 Appendix 7 - Council Tax Write Offs 

 

Page 28



88%

Q4 2021/22 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
SUPPORT PEOPLE WHO NEED US MOST

CREATE MORE OPPORTUNITIES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE 

 GENERATE MORE JOBS AND LEARNING OPPORTUNITIES

GROW OUR VITAL LOCAL BUSINESSES

STIMULATE VIBRANT HIGH STREETS AND COMMUNITIES

Residents received 
Covid-19 vaccination

73.8% 
Extremely clinically 
vulnerable residents 

vaccinated 
at quarter end 

83.6%
Residents supported to 
maximise their benefits 

through the  
Welfare Rights helpline  

– year to date

853
Rough Sleepers 

in the city 
– quarter end 

8
People aged 65 or over 
who are still at home 

91 days after discharge 

71%
People receiving a 

home based service 
from Adults Social Care 

61%

Children and 
young 

people attending 
holiday events 

14,100

Unemployment 
Claimant Rate for 

residents aged 16-64 
(NOMIS) 

8.1% 
Unemployment 
Claimant Rate 

for residents aged 18-24 
(NOMIS) 

10.1%
Jobs created / 
safeguarded 

in the city through the 
Investment Team  

– year to date 

1456
People supported into 

work through  
Black Country Impact  
and Wolves at Work  

– year to date

683
Young people have 

started apprenticeships 
or graduate placements 

with the council  
– year to date

116

Business that 
survive one year 
in Wolverhampton 

(Business Demography  
2019) 

90.27%
Wolverhampton based 

businesses supported  
in quarter  

(Total – business support,  
investment enquiries, signposting, 

event engagement) 

61
Wolverhampton based 
businesses supported 

through Business 
Relight Programme

170
New businesses 

supported by 
commissioned service 
Access to Business

177

Change in activity in 
city retail & 

recreational settings 
(Google Analytics – 

Jan 2022 - Mar 2022)

-13% 
Change in activity in 

city supermarkets & 
pharmacies 

(Google Analytics – 
Oct 2021 - Dec 2021)

-8%
Change in activity in 

city public transport 
(Google Analytics – 

Oct 2021 - Dec 2021)

-54%
Network providers 

that have 5G capability 
in Wolverhampton

100%
Investment enquiries 

into City of 
Wolverhampton Council 

– year to date

72
Rapid charging  

electric car points  
in the city

30

KEY   Performance improving                      Performance about the same                Performance decreasing 
  Better than national average               Similar to national average                    Below national average

Quarter End = As at 31st March / Year to Date = 1st April - 31st March

Schools in city 
rated 'Good' or 
'Outstanding' 
at quarter end 

Children from  
ethnic minorities 
attending 'Good' or 

‘Outstanding’ schools 
at quarter end 

90%
Children open  
to social care 
per 10,000 
population 

258
Repeat Child 
Protection 
Enquiries 

within 12 months 
to children's social 

care 

21.5%
Long-term 
Placement 
Stability of 
children and 
young people  

in care

71.4%
Suitability of 

accommodation 
for care leavers 

93.3%
Education and 

Health Care 
Plans 

completed within 
20 weeks 

34%

Appendix 1

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net Controllable 
Revised Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Adult Services 
Overall there is a net underspend of £122,000 (-0.17%) within Adult Services, after the use of one off funding and a contribution into reserves. The 
position has improved significantly from the forecast at quarter 3, mainly due to the to the use of one-off funding which will not be available in 
future years. This includes £1.1 million of covid grants and £2.3 million funded from the government’s fund for Homefirst Discharge Strategy.  
There is uncertainty of the forecast position for Adult Services in 2022-2023 and over the medium term, as services re-open following the 
pandemic and demand in some areas is back at pre-pandemic levels, although the type of service required may be different.  In addition to post 
pandemic recovery, Wolverhampton has agreed to be a ‘trailblazer’ authority and implement charging reform in January 2023.  The council is 
required to conduct a fair cost of care exercise to review levels of payments to providers, and how the council will move towards it in the medium 
term if and where it is not paid already.  In addition, the changes in legislation around individuals’ contributions towards their care will likely result 
in more individuals having financial support from the council.  The analysis is underway but at this time the overall impact is not known. 
 
 

Adults Assessment and Care 
Management 

 5,462 5,458 (4) (0.07%) - 

Adults Safeguarding 

The underspend in Safeguarding 
Service is mainly due to the delay in 
the introduction of new Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards legislation 
(Liberty Protection Safeguards) which 
will require the forecast staffing costs 
to meet the new statutory duties 
required of the local authority. 

889 770 (119) (13.39%) - 

Carer Support  766 713 (53) (6.92%) - 

Community Financial Support  1,596 1,504 (92) (5.76%) - 

P
age 31



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net Controllable 
Revised Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Community Support  141 139 (2) (1.42%) - 

Director of Adults services and 
Additional Monies 

 (7,310) (7,310) - - (138) 

Independent Living Service 
The underspend is due to reduced 
charges from Wolverhampton 
Homes. 

1,865 1,583 (282) (15.12%) - 

Learning Disabilities Care 
Purchasing 

The overspend is due to additional 
demand for care packages, this is a 
significant reduction from the 
overspend in 2020-2021 which was 
£1.4 million. 

24,714 24,994 280 1.13% - 

Learning Disability Provider 

There has been a contribution to 
Adults Social Care Reserve for 
Growth and Demand Pressures from 
underspend because of one off 
grants within in this service, to 
support potential pressures going 
forward. 

5,088 5,019 (69) (1.36%) 620 

Mental Health Assessment & Care 
Management 

The overspend is due to additional 
demand for care packages. 

6,551 6,945 394 6.01% - 

Older People Care Purchasing 

There has been a contribution to 
Adults Social Care Reserve for 
Growth and Demand Pressures from 
underspend because of one off 

21,836 21,836 - - 268 

P
age 32



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net Controllable 
Revised Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

grants within in this service, to 
support potential pressures going 
forward. 

Older People Provider Services 

There has been a contribution to 
Adults Social Care Reserve for 
Growth and Demand Pressures from 
underspend because of one off 
grants within in this service, to 
support potential pressures going 
forward. 

3,608 3,608 - - 112 

Physical Disabilities Care 
Purchasing 

 5,089 5,111 22 0.43% - 

Strategic Commissioning -Adults  
An underspend across strategic 
commissioning pending redesign. 

1,444 1,247 (197) (13.61%) - 

Total Adult Services  71,739 71,617 (122) (0.17%) 862 

 

  

P
age 33



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Children's Services and Education 

Overall there is a net underspend of £2.9 million (-5.5%) within Children’s Services and Education, due to strong financial management and 
transformative projects and programmes which have achieved significant and positive changes for children and young people living 
and learning in Wolverhampton.  Through the transforming children’s service programme we offer a robust approach to managing 
demand across the children’s social care system. This has resulted in a decrease in the number of children requiring statutory 
services.  Our restorative approach to practice, enables us to work with families to offer the right support at the right time, resulting in 
increased strength and resilience in families.  

 

Children & Young People In Care 

The underspend against placements budget 
has continued to improve as a result of the 
robust oversight and management of 
demand across the service. 

31,308 30,094 (1,214) (3.88%) - 

Director of Children's Services 

The underspend is related to budgets for 
contracts in previous years that were no 
longer required, and these budgets have 
been reallocated in 2022-2023. 

729 531 (198) (27.16%) - 

Head of Children's Improvement 

Due to the availability of other funding 
sources, the budget was for #YES project 
was not utilised in full in 2021-2022, so this 
has been transferred to the earmarked 
reserve to cover expenditure in future years. 

2,002 1,980 (22) (1.10%) 148 

Headstart  - - - - - 

P
age 34



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Regional Adoption Agency 
Consortium 

 - - - - 264 

Safeguarding  705 624 (81) (11.49%) (14) 

Specialist Support 

Due to underspend across the directorate, 
the service has not drawn down grant 
funding as planned in the budget, allowing 
this grant funding to be used to fund 
Children's services expenditure in future 
years. 

3,750 4,101 351 9.36% - 

Strengthening Families 

The underspend is due to one-off in-year 
staffing vacancies, partially offset by agency 
costs. A Peripetetic Team was approved in 
December 2021 to negate the difficulties in 
Social Work recruitment and retention and 
short term staffing vacancies.  Recruitment 
to this team is progressing and it will be 
funded from underspends.  This is part of a 
wider Recruitment and Retention strategy. 

10,110 8,972 (1,138) (11.26%) - 

Youth Offending 
The underspend relates mainly to in-year 
staffing vacancies. 

1,171 963 (208) (17.76%) - 

Central Education  (1,174) (1,174) - - (53) 

Director of Education  122 127 5 4.10% - 

Early Years  305 312 7 2.30% - 

Educational Excellence  801 741 (60) (7.49%) - 

P
age 35



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

School Business and Support 
Services 

There has been a contribution to reserves to 
allow in year efficiencies on PFI contracts to 
cover future year expenditure. 

433 369 (64) (14.78%) 886 

Schools 
There has been an increase in School’s 
reserves to ensure funding is ringfenced for 
expenditure in future schools. 

- - - - 2,413 

Inclusion Support  1,082 1,080 (2) (0.18%) - 

Special Educational Needs  (356) (419) (63) 17.70% - 

Strategic Commissioning – 
Childrens  

An underspend across strategic 
commissioning pending redesign. 

1,444 1,247 (197) (13.61%) - 

       

Total Children's Services and 
Education 

 52,432 49,548 (2,884) (5.50%) 3,644 

 
  

P
age 36



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Public Health & Wellbeing 

Overall there is a net underspend of £231,000 (-4.29%) within Public Health and Wellbeing, mainly relating to staffing vacancies within local 
economy and use of one-off grants within Community Safety & Community Cohesion.  However, it should be noted that the income 
received for WV Active significantly reduced due to the pandemic.  Following the compulsory closures of the leisure centres, in line 
with government guidelines, memberships dropped from over 10,000 members in February 2020 to their lowest of 5,300 in December 
2020.  However, during the final quarter of 2021-2022 (January – March), WV Active membership moved over the milestone mark of 
9,114.  Plans and targets are in place to ensure that WV Active returns to 10,000 live members by the summer of 2022.  In addition, 
the overall income has also been impacted by the second largest income stream for the service which is related to swimming lessons.  
In the final quarter of 2021-2022, there has been a shortage of swimming teachers to deliver lessons, this is a national issue, and the 
service is looking to Swim England to support the local solutions.  This shortage along with maternity leave and sickness within the 
services, has meant that lessons on some days and at certain sites have had to be paused – this has impacted on renewals and new 
joiners to the programme.  Income losses as a result of the pandemic have been funded from one-off grants during 2021-2022. 
 
 

Business Continuity & Emergency 
Planning 

 8 - (8) 
(100.00

%) 
- 

Commissioning  - - - - - 

Community Safety & Community 
Cohesion 

An underspend due to additional one-off 
grant funding for staff reallocated to covid 
related activities. 

697 546 (151) (21.66%) - 

Healthier Places Service  - - - - - 

Healthy Ageing  - - - - - 

Healthy Life Expectancy  - - - - - 

P
age 37



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Leisure Services  1,354 1,354 - - - 

Public Health Business 
Management 

The Public Health grant is a ringfenced grant 
and any underspends need to be transferred 
into an earmarked reserve.  The underspend 
has resulted from reduced activity across 
contracts and projects during the pandemic, 
in addition to reprioritising of Public Health 
staff in the council’s response to Covid-19.  
The reserve will be utilised to fund one-off 
public health initiatives, including improving 
health through improved private sector 
housing. 

- - - - 3,824 

Starting and Developing Well  - - - - - 

Local Economy  1,530 1,458 (72) (4.71%) - 

System Leadership  - - - - - 

Homelessness and New 
Communities 

 1,792 1,792 - - 56 

       

Total Public Health & Well Being  5,381 5,150 (231) (4.29%) 3,880 

 

  

P
age 38



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Regeneration 
Overall there is a net underspend of £120,000 (-4.29%) within Regeneration mainly due to one-off staffing vacancies held pending a restructure, 
which has now been concluded generating in year savings. Further analysis is provided below. 
 
 

Adult Education  (304) (304) - - - 

City Development  728 728 - - (591) 

City Planning 
The overspend is as a result of the 
underachievement against income targets in 
the planning service. 

844 944 100 11.85% (10) 

Director Regeneration  569 563 (6) (1.05%) 87 

Enterprise  792 723 (69) (8.71%) (89) 

Land and Property Investment 
Support 

 - - - - - 

Skills 
The underspend relates to one-off staffing 
vacancies. A restructuring exercise has now 
been concluded. 

1,159 1,014 (145) (12.51%) 182 

       

Total Regeneration  3,788 3,668 (120) (3.17%) (421) 

 
  

P
age 39



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

City Assets 
Overall there is a net underspend of £778,000 (-7.28%) within City Assets mainly as a result of budget efficiencies within Catering, Estates and 
Valuations and Project and Works Team – Maintenance Programme. Further analysis is provided below. 
 
 

Project and Works Team – Capital 
Programmes 

 152 182 30 19.74% - 

Catering  (108) (140) (32) 29.63% - 

Cleaning 

The underspend is as a result of reduced 
non-commercial building cleaning 
requirements and proactive management of 
cleaning resources across the service due to 
reduced operation of premises. 

1,325 1,198 (127) (9.58%) - 

Corporate Asset Management  8,682 8,590 (92) (1.06%) - 

Estates and Valuations 

The underspend is as a result of increased 
income from industrial properties and partner 
occupation within Council offices, new 
income generation from i9 and staffing 
efficiencies as a result of employee turnover. 
These are offset in part by pressures relating 
to lost income due to vacant commercial 
rental units. Income from i9 has been 
incorporated into the 2022-2023 budget 
approved by Full Council in March 2022. 

(4,237) (4,446) (209) 4.93% 3 

P
age 40



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Facilities Management  1,354 1,437 83 6.13% 58 

Project and Works Team – 
Maintenance Programme 

Further scrutiny of spend priorities and on-
going improvements to internal control 
processes. Generation of additional income 
for rechargeable works on capital projects. 

3,519 3,088 (431) (12.25%) - 

       

Total City Assets and Housing  10,687 9,909 (778) (7.28%) 61 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 41



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

City Housing & Environment 
Overall there is a net overspend of £70,000 (0.25%) within City Housing and Environment.  The service is reporting one-off efficiencies across 
Waste Services, however, pressures are reported across Transportation, Highways Maintenance and Coroners Services.  Pressures are also 
seen within Parking Services as income levels have not returned back to pre-pandemic levels.  Further analysis is provided below. 
 
 

Bereavement Services  (2,050) (2,067) (17) (0.83%) - 

Black Country Transport  7 7 - - - 

Coroners Service 

The overspend is due to escalating Coroners 
and Pathology costs. These pressures have 
been incorporated into the 2022-2023 
budget approved by Full Council in March 
2022. 

228 369 141 61.84% - 

Director City Environment  214 260 46 21.50% - 

Energy and Sustainability  121 74 (47) (38.84%) 7 

Environmental Services 
This underspend is mainly due to unfilled 
staff vacancies in the service pending a 
planned restructure. 

6,799 6,184 (615) (9.05%) - 

Fleet Services 

The main reasons for this variance are an 
increase in the costs of hiring vehicles partly 
offset by additional income. There is a 
planned fleet replacement programme in 
delivery to mitigate the increasing hire costs. 

1,706 1,911 205 12.02% - 

P
age 42



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Highways Maintenance 
The overspend is as a result of additional 
costs are the costs of winter maintenance 

1,587 1,878 291 18.34% - 

Landscaping  42 41 (1) (2.38%) - 

Licensing  115 115 - - 289 

Private Sector Housing  517 517 - - (63) 

Markets  (461) (386) 75 (16.27%) (8) 

Operation & Maintenance of 
Existing Network 

This underspend has arisen from additional 
income received and vacant posts pending a 
restructure. 

822 705 (117) (14.23%) 56 

Parking Services  (2,895) (2,895) - 0.00% - 

Public Protection  1,897 1,898 1 0.05% - 

Street Lighting  2,977 2,996 19 0.64% - 

Transportation 

The overspend is mainly due to the 
additional demand on Passenger Transport 
services, demand is continually monitored 
and mitigating actions are being introduced 
to offset demand pressure. 

5,809 6,518 709 12.21% - 

Housing  (352) (294) 58 16.48% - 

Waste Services 

The underspend is due to increased income, 
reduced costs of waste disposal and 
efficiency savings, partly offset by additional 
employee costs. 

11,307 10,629 (678) (6.00%) 500 

       

P
age 43



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Total City Housing and 
Environment 

 28,390 28,460 70 0.25% 781 

 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Finance 
Overall there is a net underspend of £761,000 (-5.21%) within Finance, mainly as a result of reduction in enhanced pensions costs and 
underspends arising as a result of in year vacancies.  Further analysis is provided below. 
 
 

Audit Services 

The underspend is due to a mix of early 
retirements, a secondment and unfilled 
vacancies held across the Audit and 
Insurance Teams. Temporary appointments 
have since been made and recruitment 
processes are ongoing to fully resource the 

1,813 1,596 (217) (11.97%) 364 

P
age 44



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

service.  An underspend against the 
ringfenced insurance Fund has been 
transferred into Insurance Reserve. 

Central Corporate Budgets 

The underspend is due to a significant 
reduction in enhanced pension costs, 
combined with other lesser underspends 
against a range of corporate budgets with a 
contribution to the Transformation Reserve 
to fund further funding requests. 

3,518 3,123 (395) (11.23%) 274 

Commercial Services  164 141 (23) (14.02%) (12) 

Director of Finance  166 164 (2) (1.20%) - 

Procurement Services 

The overspend is due to the continued 
reliance of agency staff as the service 
experiences difficulties in recruiting to 
permanent posts.  This challenge is faced by 
all procurement teams in the region. 

808 912 104 12.87% - 

Revenues & Benefits 

The underspend is due to unfilled staff 
vacancies held across the service and a 
reduction in postal costs due to fewer 
recovery notices being issued during 2021-
2022.  The contribution to Revenue and 
Benefits reserve relates to Collection Fund 
accounting treatment around court costs 
received. 

2,783 2,628 (155) (5.57%) 
948 

 

P
age 45



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Housing Benefit Payments & 
Subsidy 

Gross expenditure on housing benefits and 
associated housing subsidy grants are both 
in excess of £60 million. Whilst net spend on 
temporary accommodation has fallen, this 
has been outweighed by an increase in 
supported accommodation costs. 

748 867 119 15.91% - 

Strategic Finance 
The contribution from reserves was to 
support additional resources within the 
Agresso Business Support Team. 

2,880 2,880 - 0.00% (155) 

The Hub 

The underspend is due to unfilled vacancies 
across both Banking & Payments and 
Payroll Services as establishments were 
reviewed in the former and temporary 
difficulties encountered in recruitment in the 
latter. These vacancies are expected to be 
filled leading into the new financial year as 
new recruitment campaigns are underway. A 
contribution to reserve is requested to 
support additional one-off resources in 2022-
2023. 

1,718 1,526 (192) (11.18%) 120 

Council Tax Rebate Scheme 

The contribution to reserves from income 
from court costs refunds is to support the 
Council Tax discretionary scheme as 
reported to Cabinet on 23 March 2022. 

- - - - 256 

P
age 46



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

       

Total Finance  14,598 13,837 (761) (5.21%) 1,795 

 

  

P
age 47



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Governance 
Overall there is a net underspend of £541,000 (-4.57%) within Governance mainly due to the timing of recruitment to vacancies across the 
directorates and additional income within Legal services.  Further analysis is provided below. 
 
 

Director of Governance  164 164 - 0.00% - 

Governance Services 

The underspend is largely due to vacancies 
that have emerged across a range of 
services through the year.  There was also a 
significant underspend in local 
elections.  This was expected as the costs of 
the combined local, Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Mayoral elections held 
this year were effectively shared, part funded 
by Government and the Combined Authority. 

3,118 2,943 (175) (5.61%) (229) 

Legal Services 
The underspend is due to increased levels of 
external income generation. 

1,931 1,674 (257) (13.31%) 220 

Support Services 

The underspend is due to a restructure in a 
large part of the service being completed 
early in the year. This resulted in a number 
of vacancies which took several months to 
fill. Further vacancies have also emerged 
throughout the year, and the time taken to fill 

4,134 3,928 (206) (4.98%) (37) 

P
age 48



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

these has created a further reduction in 
spend. 

Projects and Change  413 382 (31) (7.51%) (35) 

Equalities  152 165 13 8.55% (50) 

Health and Safety 

As reported in quarter 3 the underspend 
arose following a restructure and delay in 
recruiting to Health and Safety Adviser 
posts.  Two of three vacant posts have now 
been recruited to.  The one remaining 
vacancy is anticipated to be recruited to 
during 2022-2023. 

302 106 (196) (64.90%) - 

Deputy Director of People and 
Change 

 125 127 2 1.60% - 

Human Resources  1,598 1,614 16 1.00% (185) 

Ward Funds  200 200 - - (19) 

Governance Saving Target 

The underspends across various services 
within Governance have delivered the 
Governance efficiencies target for 2021-
2022, held against this line. 

(293) - 293 100.00% - 

       

Total Governance  11,844 11,303 (541) (4.57%) (335) 

 

P
age 49



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

  

P
age 50



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual 

v Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Strategy 
Overall there is a net underspend of £698,000 (-6.46%) within Strategy mainly as a result of budget efficiencies within ICTS.  Further analysis is 
provided below. 
 
 

Strategy  149 145 (4) -2.68% (95) 

ICTS 

The underspend is as a result of reduced 
Multi-Functional Device usage, part year 
staffing efficiencies as a result of a 
restructure which has been completed 
during the year.  In addition, the service has 
generated additional income from the 
Printing service. These efficiencies are offset 
in part by anticipated pressures relating to 
licencing costs. 
 
It is expected that printing service continues 
to deliver efficiencies, however uncertainty 
on how inflation will impact on digital 
contract cost could offset future efficiencies. 

6,223 5,908 (315) -5.06% 95 

Organisational Development 

The underspend reflects a decrease in 
training costs, as a result of providing online 
training and graduates securing permanent 
placements prior to end of graduate term. 

1,187 1,083 (104) -8.76% - 

P
age 51



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual 

v Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Policy and Strategy  215 130 (85) 
-

39.53% 
- 

Insight and Performance  867 782 (85) -9.80% - 

Service Development  75 123 48 64.00% - 

West Midlands Strategic Migration 
Partnership 

 - - - - - 

Customer Services 

The underspend is the combined result of 
staffing, equipment and subscriptions 
efficiencies, as well as an increase in 
income. 

2,135 1,998 (137) -6.42% - 

Register Office  (50) (66) (16) 32.00% - 
       

Total Strategy  10,801 10,103 (698) -6.46% - 

 
  

P
age 52



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual 

v Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Communication and External Relations 
Overall there is a net overspend of £114,000 (-4.57%) within Communications and External Relations. Further analysis is provided below. 
 
 

Communications 

The underspend is forecast due to unfilled 
staff vacancies and reduced campaign 
spending due to Covid. The service 
restructure, postponed since 2020 due to 
Covid pressures, is now underway. 

897 790 (107) 
(11.93

%) 
- 

Visitor Economy  915 915 - - 22 

City Events 

The overspend is due to the costs of 
establishing the new events in the city that 
are anticipated to see higher returns in future 
years, the longer term effect of the pandemic 
on confidence in the events industry and the 
subsequent inflationary pressures. The 
overspend is partly offset by increased 
income from Bilston Town Hall, Darts and 
Park Events. 

458 679 221 48.25% - 

       

Total Communications and 
External Relations 

 2,270 2,384 114 5.02% 22 

 

  

P
age 53



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

Corporate Budgets 
 

Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive 

 393 388 (5) (1.27%)  

Corporate Budgets As forecast through the financial year, there 
was an underspend against Corporate 
Budgets and Adjustments totalling £4.9 
million as a result of budget efficiencies 
against corporate contingencies. 
 
The Budget Report approved by Full Council 
in March 2021, stated that any efficiencies 
identified against budgets held in the 
Corporate Contingency for Budget Growth, if 
not required, would be used to reduce the 
level of capital receipts flexibility utilised in 
2021-2022.  Therefore, any underspends 
identified have mitigated the need to use the 
capital receipt flexibility used for revenue 
transformation activity during 2021-2022 by 
£5.0 million.  
 
 

(1,433) (5,239) (3,806) 265.60% (3,689) 

Corporate Adjustments 736 (53) (789) (107.20%) - 

Adjustment to Capital Receipts 
Flexibility 

(5,000) - 5,000 -100.00%  

Apprenticeship Levy  495 539 44 8.89% - 

P
age 54



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

West Midlands Transport Levy 
The payment required during 2021-2022 
was slightly less than the budgeted amount. 

10,425 10,316 (109) (1.05%) - 

Environment Agency Levy  76 76 - - - 

Birmingham Airport - Rent  (69) (79) (10) 14.49% - 

Treasury Management 

An underspend against the Treasury 
Management budget is as a result of 
rephasing of the capital programme and 
lower interest rates forecast on borrowing. 

37,555 36,506 (1,049) -2.79% - 

Central Provision for Auto-
enrolment and Pay Award costs 

An underspend against the Central Provision 
for Auto-enrolment in 2021-2022 has been 
realised.   

199 - (199) (100.00%) - 

Redundancy 

Redundancy costs during 2021-2022 were in 
the region of £885,000.  Budget efficiencies 
identified have enabled the Council to meet 
the cost without calling on reserves. 

- 885 885 - - 

Covid-19 - Corporate 

In accordance with the 2022-2023 budget 
strategy presented to Full Council in March 
2022, £5 million of covid grant has been 
used to support the underlying budget 
pressures in 2021-2022, thereby releasing 
general fund resources which can be utilised 
to meet the budget deficit in 2022-2023. In 
addition, in light of Our City Our Plan 
priorities and the ongoing budget challenge, 

3,190 3,190 - - 8,355 

P
age 55



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 2 

Revenue Budget Outturn 2021-2022 
 

Service/Budget 
Narrative 

Net 
Controlla

ble 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-2022 

Net 
Controlla
ble Actual 

YTD 
2021-2022 

Net Controllable 
Variance (Actual v 

Budget)  
2021-2022 

Element 
Relating to 

Transfer 
to/(from) 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 
 

£3.4 million has been transferred into Our 
City, Our Plan reserve to ensure we can 
invest in our priorities going forward. 

Transfer to Reserve - Budget 
Contingency Reserve 

In order to support environmental works 
going forward, it was proposed that 
£200,000 be transferred into the Budget 
Contingency Reserve in November 2021 as 
part of Performance and Budget Monitoring 
2021-2022 report 

- 200 200 - 200 

Transfer to Reserve - Future 
Years Budget Strategy Reserve 

In accordance with the 2022-2023 budget 
strategy presented to Full Council on 2 
March 2022, as a result of corporate budget 
efficiencies and underspends across other 
directorates, £4 million has been transferred 
into a specific reserve to support the 2022-
2023 budget strategy. 

- 4,000 4,000 - 4,000 

Total Corporate Budgets  46,567 50,729 4,162 8.94% 8,866 

 

P
age 56



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 3 

Outturn on Schools’ Budgets 
 

Overview 

  

Schools that remain in local authority control started the 2021-2022 financial year 

with accumulated reserves of £13.2 million. At the end of the year revenue balances 

for these schools were £15.6 million, an increase of £2.4 million.  This represents 

13.31% of the funding and income available to schools during 2021-2022.    

 

At the start of 2021-2022, the Schools’ projected balances were forecast to be £10.2 

million therefore actual balances are £5.4 million greater than forecast.2 

The table below illustrates the in-year movement by school type: 

 

Table 1 - Analysis of Schools Balances 2021-2022 

  

  

        

Balance at 1 

April 2021 

Transfer 

to 

Academy 

in year 

Contribution 

to Balances 

in  

2021-2022 

Balance as 

at 31 March 

2022 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Infant                (413)  - (82) (495) 

Junior               (281) - (3) (284) 

Primary             (7,742)  - (530) (8,272) 

Secondary             (307)  - (2,215) (2,522) 

Special                (2,155)  - (84) (2,239) 

Nursery             (1,287)  - 85 (1,202) 

PRU             (1,017)  - 416 (601) 

Total (13,202) - (2,413) (15,615) 

Clawback 

Balances 
- - - - 

Borrowed from 

future Allocations 
               -  - - - 

Total Reserve 

Balance 
(13,202) - (2,413) (15,615) 

   

 

Within the City, five schools have now had a balance of over fifteen per cent of their 

income for five years meaning that the Local Authority is liable to further challenge 

from the Department for Education regarding these schools.   

 

No schools were taken through the arbitration process in 2021-2022 to recover 

balances as all schools demonstrated legitimate and robust plans.  

 

Schools may be maintaining balances for future cost increases in pension and other 

pay related costs, which exceed the amount of grant made available for this purpose. 

Page 57



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 3 

Outturn on Schools’ Budgets 
 
 

It is important to note that, as any variances against schools’ delegated budgets are 

transferred either to or from schools’ accumulated reserves, their outturn position is 

financially neutral to the Council’s General Fund.   

 

Schools in a Deficit Position 

 

The table below shows how the total number of schools in deficit has increased in 

2021-2022.   

 

Table 2 – Number of Schools in a Deficit Position 

  

Sector 2018-19 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 

Infant - - - - 

Junior - - - - 

Primary 3 - 1 1 

Secondary 2 2 1 1 

Special - - - - 

Nursery - 1 1 2 

Pupil Referral Unit - - - - 

Total 5 3 3 4 

 

Where schools end the financial year in a deficit position, they are required to seek the 

approval of the Local Authority, to operate with a deficit balance.  A further report on 

these will be brought to a future Cabinet (Resources) Panel. 
 
Where schools end the financial year in a deficit position, they are required to seek the 
approval of the Local Authority, to operate with a deficit balance.  A further report on 
these will be brought to a future Cabinet (Resources) Panel.  
  
The schools carrying a deficit balance at the end of 2021-2022 are shown in the 
table below:  
  

School  Deficit balance 
£  

Action Taken to Address Deficit  

Phoenix Nursery  34,354  Licensed Deficit Application  

Windsor Nursery  14,694  Licensed Deficit Application  

The Kings Secondary  104,485  Financial Notice of Concern  

Lanesfield Primary  3,862  Regular Monitoring / Scrutiny  

  

 

Page 58



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 4 
Housing Revenue Account Revenue Outturn 2021-2022 

 

  

2021-2022 2021-2022 2021-2022  

Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 

Income       

Gross rents – dwellings  (91,021) (89,664) 1,357 

Gross rents – non-dwellings (544) (679) (135) 

Charges to tenants for services 
and facilities 

(6,264) (5,980) 284 

Total income (97,829) 

) 

(96,323) 1,506 

       

Expenditure       

Repairs and maintenance 26,457  26,710 253 

Supervision and management 20,849  20,506 

 

(343) 

Rents, rates and taxes 400  713 313 

Increase in provision for bad 
debts  

2,000  627 (1,373) 

Depreciation of fixed assets 18,823  19,531 708 

Total expenditure 68,529  68,087 (442) 

       

Net cost of HRA services (29,300) (28,236) 1,064 

Interest payable 10,831  10,097 (734) 

Interest and investment income (14) (18) (4) 

Revenue to capital transfer 5,336 5,000 (336) 

(Surplus)/deficit before 
transfers to/from reserves 
and provision for redemption 
of debt 

(13,147) (13,157) (10) 

        

Allocation of (surplus)/deficit       

Provision for redemption of debt 13,147  13,157 10 

        

Balance for the year - - - 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 5 

Debt Write Offs 
 
1.1 Debts are only written off as a last resort, when all feasible recovery action 

has been exhausted. If the situation surrounding an individual case changes 
in the future, steps would be taken to pursue the debt, despite the debt having 
been written off.  

  
 Sundry Debtors 
 
1.2 Income is due to the Council for a wide range of services provided to 

individuals and businesses. To reflect the fact that, despite the Council’s best 
efforts, not all of this income will actually be collected, the Council makes 
provision for bad and doubtful debts, which it charges directly to the General 
Fund.  

 

1.3 Overall, 211 debt write offs totalling £244,584.58 have been incurred.  All but 

nine valued at £111,259.34, which require approval of Cabinet (see Appendix 

6), have been approved for write off by the Director of Finance in accordance 

with the Council’s Financial Procedures Rules. 
 
 The Collection Fund 
 
1.4 The City of Wolverhampton Council acts as billing and collecting authority for 

council tax and non-domestic rates income. The Council administers a 
separate Collection Fund account for this purpose. The Collection Fund 
accounts for the receipt of council tax and business rates (non-domestic rates) 
income and payments to precepting authorities such as the Fire Authority and 
the Police. Within this account, provisions are made for bad and doubtful 
debts and any write offs are charged to the council tax or business rates 
provision as appropriate.  

 

1.5 Council Tax – Overall, 607 debt write offs totalling £357,819.77 have been 

incurred.  All but two valued at £13,450.90 in total, which require approval of 

Cabinet (see Appendix 7), have been approved for write off by the Director of 

Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules. 
 
1.6 Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) – Overall, 19 debt write offs totalling 

£164,898.52 have been incurred.  All have been approved for write off by the 
Director of Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure 
Rules.   

 

 Housing Benefits 

 
1.7 Housing benefit overpayments occur when rent rebate or rent allowance 

awards exceed a recalculated entitlement.  Whilst the Council aims to limit the 
incidence of overpayments, they may occur for a number of reasons including 
as a result of fraud or error. In general, overpaid benefit is written off in line with 
Government guidance where recovery would cause hardship, where the debtor 
has died or cannot be traced. 

Page 61



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 5 

Debt Write Offs 
 
1.8 The Council receives Government subsidy in respect of overpaid housing 

benefit at rates of between 40% and 100% according to the circumstances in 
which the overpayment arose. The unsubsidised element of any overpayment 
is charged to the General Fund. 

 

1.9 Overall, 15 overpayments totalling £10,085.40 have been incurred.  All have 

been approved for write off by the Director of Finance in accordance with the 

Council’s Financial Procedure Rules. 

 

Page 62



This report is PUBLIC 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 6 

Sundry Debts Write offs to be approved by Cabinet 
 

 Account Ref Reason for Write-off Write-off amount £ 

16010767 Deceased (no estate) 27,753.32  

16026934 No Trace 5,461.73  

16002982 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 14,058.71  

16009416 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 25,709.49  

16012621 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 9,534.56  

16013232 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 6,559.96  

16013821 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 8,046.81  

16019566 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 8,067.80  

16051487 Recovery Prohibited by Statute 6,066.96  

  Total 111,259.34 

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

APPENDIX 7 
Council Tax Write Offs to be approved by  

Cabinet 
 

Account Ref Write-off Reason Write-Off Amount £ 

28380064003 Recovery Prohibited By Statute 7,535.80  

41940017601 Recovery Prohibited By Statute 5,915.10  

  Total 13,450.90 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Blue Badge Update 2022
	4 Performance and Budget Outturn 2021-2022
	Appendix 1 - Performance Update 2021-2022
	Appendix 2 - 2021-2022 Revenue Budget Outturn
	Appendix 3 - Outturn on Schools Budgets 2021-2022
	Appendix 4 - Housing Revenue Account
	Appendix 5 - Debt Write Offs
	Appendix 6 - Sundry Debt Write Offs
	Appendix 7 - Council Tax Write Offs


